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The East Milwaukee Street historic district is a compact area comprising the re-
maining historic portion of the twoblocks on Milwaukee Street which extend east!
from the primary historic intersection of downtown commercial Janesville at Main
and Milwaukee Streets, The grouping is separated from the intersection by the con-
temporary (1970) six story Helgesen building, which replaced two razed 19th century
buildings on Milwaukee Street, at the northeast corner of Milwaukee and Main. The
district lies on the north side of East Milwaukee Street and on both sides of the inter-
section of Milwaukee with North Parker Drive and includes only five buildings, to-
gether with the annexes to two of the buildings. Among them are a series of three-
and four-story 19th century buildings, three of them built as hotels or boarding
houses (the sequence is interrupted by a one-story building which was cut down from
two stories in the early 20th century), and a fourth structure built as a factory and
showroom for carriages in the 19th century and enlarged by a three story verna-
cular addition in the early 20th century.

The two hotel buildings to the west (109-111 and 113-117 E., Milwaukee) were originally
built in the 1850's with rooming or dwelling units upstairs, and commercial space
below. The third, the London Hotel to the east (121 E, Milwaukee), was built in the
1890's with a lobby and restaurant on the first story.. This structure faced both the
Myers Opera House (1870, 1893, NRHP, razed 1977), across the street on Milwau-
kee, and the carriage factory across Parker.

The turreted bay and recessed eritrance of the London Hotel, on the northwest corner
of Parker Drive, complements the angular corner entrance of the carriage factory
on the opposite, northeast corner; both buildings are topped by metal cornices.
Plainer buildings were constructed on Parker Drive to the north and in back of

each of these corner structures; these are a hotel annex which is reached by an
upper story walkway from the hotel and a vernacular factory addition which is ad-
jacent to the carriage works. In addition to being physically attached, these
additions match in scale and contribute to their parent buildings and act as buffers

to the parking areas and buildings to the north of the district, which would be in-
trusive if included within the boundaries.

An important early 20th century alteration changed the character, layout and facade
of the middle one of the three hotel buildings, now the Peters Rlock (113-117 E.
Milwaukee), although it has continued since that time to offer commercial space

on the ground floor and flats upstairs, a use essentially similar to its previous
usage. In 1913 the structure was apparently gutted and rebuilt in the interior, with

at least one addition to the rear to square the building off, and the number of

floors reduced from five to four, but within the same walls, Thus, the bulk and
scale of the building remains as it was since the 1850's, when it was one of several
impressive four and five story structures clustered within a half block of Janesville's
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Property Owner Name & Mailing Address
109-111 E, Milwaukee Street Ambrose P. Ryan Trust

c/o Robert Ryan
800 North Washington Street
Janesville, Wl 53545

Stanley M. Ryan Trust

c/o Rock County Savings & Trust Company
Attn: Bernard Jeub

2021 Holiday Drive

Janesville, Wi 53545

Mrs. Stanley M, Ryan
1014 Glen Street
Janesville, Wl 53545

113=117 E, Milwaukee Street Robert Kimball
917 Todd Drive
Janesville, Wl 53545

119 E. Milwaukee Street Robert J. Coyne
525 East Milwaukee Street
Janesville, WI 53545

121=123 E. Milwaukee Street & Thomas Forrestal
11 North Parker Drive P. 0, Box 932
Janesville, Wl 53545
201-203 E, Milwaukee Street & William J, Allan
10-16 North Parker Drive 845 North Marion Street

Janesville, Wi 53545
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main intersection, at Main and Milwaukee. Of those which were four or five stories
in height, it is one of only two remaining which approximate their original height
(the others have been demolished or reduced to three or two stories only), with the
exception of the nearby Lappin-Hayes Block (1855, 1899 NRHP) .

The Peters Block alteration included an entirely new facade in an eclectic style
with both Tudor Revival and Prairie School elements; the structure would look quite
at home in any of a dozen Chicago neighborhoods. Verticals and horizontals are
articulated ty bands of variegated brick in a visually pleasing design, which

does not combat the 19th century articulation of sills and lintels and cornices

of the other buildings. The diapered brick frieze on the one story building in

the series also is compatible with the whole. In spite of these early 20th century
alterations, the street fronts on Milwaukee and Parker Drive retain a compati-
bility of scale, brick construction, fenestration and surface treatment, which
lends credence to their consideration as a district. The recent loss of the

Myers Theater across the street has had the positive effect of opening up a
dramatic vista of the facades of these structures across the open spaces of the
drive-in banking facility which replaced the theater,

The owners of the Ryan building, 109-111 East Milwaukee, participated in the
summer of 1978 in a locally-sponsored 'Project Facelift", cleaning the brick
and preparing to treat the storefronts in a manner compatible with their upper
stories.3 Also, under new ownership, the apartments on the upper floors of the
Peters Block are presently undergoing renovation. The London Hotel facade was
cleaned and pointed about 1975.

Further economic impetus to the area is expected from the two major projects of
Janesville's first Tax Increment Finance District, within which the historic
district is located. They are a six-story elderly housing complex with an
enclosed atrium, and a multi-level new bank building, both of contemporary design.
The bank is one block north of the historic district, and the housing project is
a block further north beyond that. The designers and the owners are aware that
the Qew buildings should be compatible with the historic fabric of the neighbor-
hood? The brick pavement of East Wall Street, one of the few early 20th century
brick pavements in the city which remain exposed, will be preserved on the
south side of the bank, a block north of the historic district. The alley and
backsides of 109-121 East Milwaukee are interesting visually and could make an
unusual restored space; however, the alley does not presently figure in T.I.D.
plans.
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Though the major porjects of the T,I.,D. are not visible from the East Milwaukee Street
district, upgrading the entire area by the housing and bank project, as well as National
Register listing of the East Milwaukee Street and North Main Street historic districts,
should further encourage the rehabilitation of these structures by their private owners.

1. Because of the slight angle of the river, which the downtown streets
follow, the streets do not run due north, etc., but are described in
the abstracts as north, east., etc., for convenience.

2. The Myers Hotel of 1859 on the southeast corner of Main and Milwaukee
streets was considered the finest hotel in the city through much of the
second half of the 19th century, especially after the Hyatt House on
the west side of the river burned in 1867. The Myers Hotel was razed
in 1960, Presumably many of the guests who came in connection with
theatrical productions used to stay at the Myers, and the London Hotel
was built to provide alternative accomodations.,

3. '"Project Facelift" was financially aided by the National Trust for His-
toric Preservation, which provided an intern, and by two local charitable
funds,

4, The architect for Garden Court, the housing project, is George Shipporeit
of Evanston, Illinois, and the architect for the new Merchants and Savings
Bank is Kenton Peters of Madison, Wisconsin.
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DEFINITION OF BOUNDARIES

The proposed East Milwaukee Street Historle District may be considered an "island" of
historic commercial buildings located in a sea of change; the boundaries are determined
by contemporary bulldings or parking facilities which surround them.

The boundary description begins at the intersection of a line drawn along the west
property line of 109-111 East Milwaukee (Ryan's property) and the south edge of the
municipal parking ramp, The boundary then runs southerly along that line drawn along
the west property line of 109-111 East Milwaukee to the curb line on the north side
of the street. This is the southwestern corner of the district. Immediately west is
the contemporary (1970) Helgesen building, not included in the district,

From that point the boundary runs easterly along the north curb line of East Milwaukee
Street, across the intersection with North Parker Drive, to a point south of the eastemn
edge of the former Hodge & Buchholz Carriage Factory (Allan property » 201=203 East
Milwaukee), This is the southeastern corner of the district. To the south, west of
Parker Drive, are the Rock County National Bank building and drive-in banking facilities,
built in 1960 and 1978, on the sites of the razed Myers Hotel and the lMyers Opera

House (NRHP), respectively. Also south of the district, east of Parker Drive, is a
contemporary newspaper plant (1968), which is fronted with a broad sand relief sculpture
by Constantino Nivola,

From the southeastern corner of the district the boundary follows a line drawn along
the eastern edge of the former Hodge & Buchholz factory northerly to the southeast
cormer of that building, This structure, bullt in two or more parts, bears multiple
addresses (201-03 East Milwaukee, 14 and 16 North Parker), and is located on all or
part of Lots 6 and 7, Block 25, Original Plat, However it has one owner (Allan) and
one tax parcel number (#4499), and the boundary follows the varied perimeter of the
structure, rather than the property lines, northerly, easterly and northerly

to the extreme northeast corner of the bullding, which marks the northeastern cormer
of the distriet.

To the east of the district on Milwaukee Street are two buildings, one a nondescript,
flat-fronted, two-story brick building remodeled with a totally new front and used as

a carpet and tile shop, and, beyond, a one-story muffler shop. Neither is of historical
interest or character. To the east of them, two bulldings, a two-story, bracketed

frame Victorian commercial building and the cream brick Galbraith stables, the latter
of primary historical interest, were razed in the autum of 1978 for a parking lot,
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The north boundary proceeds westerly along the north property line of 16 North Parker
Drive, thence southerly along the east side of the street to a point opposite the
south edge of the concrete municipal parking ramp, thence westerly along the south
edge of said ramp to the point of beginning, which is the northwestern corner of

the historic district. Outside the district, to the north of the Allan property, is

a 19th century cream brick bullding used as a furniture store. It is entirely

fronted with moderm metallic siding and with new display windows and has lost whatever
architectural integrity it may have had. To the north of the bulldings from 109 to
12]1-123 East Milwaukee Street, the south edge of the parking rarp serves as an effective
north boundary. Although the alley and service areas thereby incorporated have no
particular character at the moment, the potential does remain for attractive develop-
ment of the area as has been done with similar settings in other cities.
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INVENTORY

Intrusions

Because the district is concentrated in such a small area, and is unchanged in the
past 50 years, there are no intrusions within the district. However, buildings or
structures including a parking ramp, which would be considered intrusive in a dis-
trict, are just outside its borders and in fact help determine some of the boundaries.

Pivotal Buildings

121-123 E. Milwaukee, The IL.ondon Hotel

East 38', South 10" of Lot 1, Block 34; original plat of Janesville (includes annex, 11
N. Parker Dr.). Owner: Thomas Forrestal.

The London Hotel, a turreted three story brick building of Queen Anne
affinities, was built by Fred Jones, who bought the lot in 1887 and took out a $6000
mortgage in 1892 to construct the building, It was opened by 1893.

Several years ago it was rehabilitated and cleaned on the exterior to bring out the
natural color of the cream brick of the east facade and the red brick and rusticated
stone of the south facade, The parapet-like metal cornice and bays were repainted.
The southeast corner entrance with its rounded bay and shingled turret helps make

the building a strong corner to the block, although a recent alteration to the ground
floor windows adversely affects the appearance. The London Hotel is probably eligible
architecturally on its own merits to the National Register, as embodying the distinc-
tive characteristics of a period.

An upper story cross-walk leads to a 40' x 60' brick annex of ca. 1910-1913, at 1l North
Parker. The annex is a building of little architectural merit and is of contributing
significance only.

(Souvenir, Janesville Fire Dept., Janesville, 1902.)

201-203 E. Milwaukee, Hodge and Buchholz, or Janesville Carriage Company

West portion of Lot 8, 43' on Milwaukee x 73" on Parker Drive; Lot 6 and west por-
tion of 7 & 8, 173! on Parker Drive; all on Block 25, original plat of Janesville (in-

cludes additions, 10-16 N. Parker Dr.). Owner: William J, Allan.
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The Hodge and Buchholz Carriage Works, later known as the Janesville Carriage Com-
pany, is a three story brown brick "Commercial Renaissance" building, It features

a corner entrance (nicely complementing that of the London Hotel across the street)
with (now) a single window at the second and an original double window at the third
story. Three bays of paired windows, each under broad brick arched lintels with
keystones, appear on the south side between tall two-story engaged brick pilasters.
Eight bays of single, arched windows appear on the west., The corner and south side
of the building is topped with a metal bracketed "Renaissance" cornice. A simple
cornice - appears on the west. The simple west frieze was once painted with the com-
pany's name, which was removed by 1902. Otherwise there is little alteration to the
upper stories since the 1880's, though the ground story exterior was remodeled ca.
1940, when new offices were put into the main and second story.

The vehicle industry in Janesville began in 1844 when a Mr. King began manufacturing
carriages; subsequently he took in Robert Hodge as a partner, and later Hodge worked
alone. Hodge and Herman Ruchholz then formed a partnership to make carriagesin
1863. About then, probably, they constructed what was described in 1870 as a two
story building, 44 feet on Milwaukee and 70 feet on Rluff (North Parker), Illustrated
in the 1873 Rock County Atlas, this structure was replaced before 1888 by the present
building. The firm was called Hodge and Buchholz through 1880; by 1884 Herman
Buchholz was president of the company which by then was named the Janesville
Carriage Company. The company made carriages, omnibuses, buggies, phfetons,
carryalls, wagonetts (sic), sleighs and circus wagons,

- The firm sold out to General Motors Corporation in 1919, and for a short time the
Samson engineering department occupied the structure,

The carriage factory was designed as a dignified, bracketed, Victorian commercial
building for the manufacture and sale of carriages; however in the early 20th century
the building was expanded to the north with round-arched, cream brick vernacular
contruction, This addition of the building is also three stories high, and is twelve
bays (in the sense of window openings) wide. A flat tower, which includes an elevator
shaft, appears above the fifth and sixth openings from the north end; the design is
assymetrical, This addition is of contributing significance,
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Contributing buildings

109-111 and 113-117 E. Milwaukee are of contributing interest, on historic grounds, as
two drastically remodeled mid-19th century hotel complexes:

109-111 E, Milwaukee Street

Fast 35' Lot 8, 12' Lot 1, Rlock 34, Owners: Ambrose P, Ryan Trust, Stanley M.
Ryan Trust and Mrs. Stanley M. Ryan.

The Ryan building is a simplified remodeling of the cream brick Merchants Hotel of
ca. 1850-1853. It was renamed the Ogden House ca, 1855, Ry 1870 the Ogden House
not only took in boarders but served meals, including "oysters in any style". Ori-
ginally a transitional Greek Revival building of 3-1/2 stories, topped by a flat cornice,
with tall second and third story windows surmounted by flat lintels, and an attic.
story with low windows above them, it was remodeled after 1892 with two metal-clad
bays, which remain. Later the cornice was removed and the brick continued flush

to the roof. Part of the original fenestration appears on the center and west sides

of the facade.

In the summer of 1978, the gray paint which had covered the facade was removed,

to reveal a cream brick structure with rose brick addition. Recycled cream brick
was added to a portion of the first story, as part of its remodeling to be more in
character with the stories above. This work on the building, as part of Janesville's
"Project Facelift", is being continued in 1979.

(Abstracts; Janesville Directory, 1859, p. 38, 1870, etc.; Wise, Picturesque Janes-
ville Illustrated, 1888; Janesville, Wis, Illustrated, 1892).

113-117 E. Milwaukee Street

Part of Lot 1, 64' beginning 12' east of the west line of Lot 1, Block 34. Owner: Bob
Kimball,

The Peters Block is even more severe in its alterations than 109-111, It is presently
a four-story brick building, inscribed "Peters, 1913". Tall piers with geometric
capitals alternate between triple windows and diamond-patterned spandrels. An orna-
mental brick frieze appears across the top. The rectilinear pattern of crosses and
inlaid squares caused the building to be dubbed "Knights Templar" in design at its
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time of construction; it may be considered an interesting amalgam of Tudor Re-
vival modified by geometric elements of the Prairie School. The building now makes
a fitting visual transition between the late Victorian London Hotel at the east corner
and the contemporary style Helgesen building at the west end of the block.

From the rear alley, 113-117 appears to be a four story, mid-19th century complex
of mixed orange and dull cream brick, which is unified by the appearance of rows
of simple segmental arched windows behind the wooden framework of the porches.

The first two stories of the west 20 feet, 113 East Milwaukee, were built by Nelson
Hurlbut in 1849; his foundation wall was "sufficient for a four-story superstructure".
This building was sold in 1851 to J. M. Riker, who established a saddle and harness
shop on the first story. Riker raised the building to five stories in 18565, when Sanford
Williams constructed the eastern two-thirds. A "large brick block, five stories high,
60 feet front, and 66 feet deep" was built 1855, for about $20, 000, The upper portion
of the double block served as lodging rooms for families, It was called the American
House or American Hotel (1884, 1894) through 1911, The related facades were of three
and seven bays respectively, BRoth featured decorated window hoods and bracketed
cornices; that on 115-117 included acorn pendants, It is conjectured that the shells

of these buildings remained after 1913 when they were remodeled into the 4 story
Peters Block,

(Abstracts, Janesville Directories, passim; Janesville Directory, 1859, p. 38; Wise,
Picturesgue Janesville Illustrated, 1888; Janesville Gazette, Dec., 31, 1913, pp. 13
(11lus.), 18.)

119 E. Milwaukee

Part (20') of Lot 1, Rlock 34, Owner: Robert Coyne,

Frick Printing is a one-story printing office, reduced from a two-story 19th century
building ca. 1915, when the front was remodeled in terracotta red brick, with a diaper-
patterned frieze and concrete string courses. The interior retains its stamped

metal ceiling.

11 North Parker Drive

London Hotel annex: for description, see 121 East Milwaukee. Contributory as linkage
to the London Hotel.
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10-16 North Parker Drive

Part of Allan property: additions to 201 East Milwaukee; for description see under
201 East Milwaukee, Contributing as linkage to Janesville Carriage Company.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The proposed East Milwaukee Street Historic District is significant on historic and
architectural grounds as a remaining historic portion of the corridor of Janesville's
commercial district east of the Rock River, which runs easterly on Milwaukee Street

a block and a half from Ma‘n Street. It is one of three such proposed districts, the
other two being the North Main Street (which is being concurrently presented for
nomination) and the South Main Street Historic Districts (in preparation) which
radiate from the primary historical commercial intersection of Main and Milwaukee
Streets. These districts developed in the mid-19th century and continued to grow
until the early 20th century. They were one district until recent years when the
demolition of a series of significant structures and their partial replacement by a
variety of contemporary structures isolated the district into three district segments.

The buildings in the East Milwaukee Street district are historically significant for
their association with the commercial growth of Janesville, two of them for their
combination of ground story commercial offices and shops with a mid-19th century
pattern of boarding or hotel facilities as part of a commercial district, and another
segment as part of the transportation industry which has been so important to Janes-
ville. For the former, during the mid 19th century many Janesville businessmen who
had recently migrated to the city, or later the sons of those who had established
their households, lived many years in downtown hotels or boarding establishments before
building private residences. Families also frequently lived over their businesses
which were located on the ground stories of the buildings. The third hotel, the

last to be built (1892), more generally catered to transient guests. It was located
across the street from the popular Myers Opera House (1870, 1893, NRHP, razed 1977)
and a block away from the Myers Hotel, which was undoubtedly its strongest competition.

The commercial significance of the transportation industry in Janesville lies
secondarily in the harness shops and blacksmith shops which once occupied several
of the spaces below the hotels or the land on the northern part of the district,
before the present additions were constructed there. The significance of the
transportation industry lies primarily, however, with the Hodge and Buchholz
(Janesville Carriage) building of ca. 1880. Originally founded in 1844, the firm
became Hodge and Buchholz in 1863 and the Janesville Carriage Company in 1884, and
was one of two large carriage manufacturers in Janesville in the late 19th century,
the other being Wisconsin Carriage on West Milwaukee Street. Janesville Carriage
sold out, as did Janesville Machine, the largest of the farm machinery enterprises, which
was located on South Franklin Street, to Samson Tractor in 1919. Samson Tractor
was brought to Janesville as an arm of General Motors. because of Janesville's
reputation with horse and farm machinery. Although the tractor business failed
dramatically within a few years, it acted as the transition to the manufacture of
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Chevrolet automobiles, for which Janesville now has one of the major assembly
plants in the country. The Samson engineering department occupied the old
Janesville Carriage works for several years.

The pivotal buildings, Janesville Carriage and the London Hotel, also retain
architectural significance because they embody characteristics of a period and
type of construction, the Victorian commercial building, expressed with aspects of
the Renaissance Revival or Queen Anne styles, respectively, as they were practiced
in a growing midwestern city in the late 19th century. The London Hotel is
significant as a turreted, rusticated Queen Anne building (1892) and the Janes-
ville Carriage Factory as a metal-corniced and bracketed commercial Renaissance
building (ca. 1880). Both are virtually unaltered.

The Merchants-Ogden Hotel is of secondary architectural significance as a some-
what altered but still partly straight-linteled Greek Revival hotel and business
block of ca. 1853. To its east, the Peters Block (so-called from the 1913
remodeling of its 1849-55 structure) is of secondary architectural importance

as a modified Tudor Revival and Prairie School facade which affords visually

an "art-historical" transition between the Victorian buildings around it and the
contemporary building to its west, outside of the district. These latter two
hotel buildings, however, are of greater historical interest as remmants of
mid-19th century commercial development; because of their subsequent alterations,
they are considered as contributory buildings to the district. The Merchants-
Ogden building is undergoing some 'Facelift'' cleaning and restoration and
rehabilitation of its apartments, which should enhance its intrinsic and its
market value.

Though there was little change to the district between World War I and the 1940's,
several '"modern' remodelings of many of the office fronts took place, though the
buildings were relatively unaltered above the first story. An unfulfilled
Janesville master plan of 1971 would have destroyed the character of most of the
buildings on Milwaukee Street. Due however to the relatively conservative nature
of the owners of the buildings, these structures were generally maintained, while
historic buildings to their south gave way to a blue-green and metallic layered
bank building and a modern newspaper office, as business volume slowly shifted

to the new outlying shopping center. On the other hand, urban renewal projects
which tended to lay waste entire cwntown blocks were avoided in Janesville.
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Janesville's first Tax Increment District, within which the East Milwaukee Street
Historic District lies, was proposed in 1977 to infuse new money and building into
the downtown area through projects such as a new bank building and a housing project
one and two blocks, respectively, north of the historic district, By then it was
realized that a core of notable Viectorian buildings remained in the downtown Janes-
ville area and that the preservation of their character should be an asset to the
"center city," since nothing comparable exists in the outlying areas. The East
Milwaukee Street Historiec Districet is a compact, clearly defined part of this core.
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History of Rock County, Chicago, 1879.

Janesville City Directories, 1859 - c. 1915.

Map of Rock County, 1858, Atlas, 1873 and 1891.

Souvenir, Janesville Fire Department, Janesville, 1902

TIF Project Plan, Janesville: City Planning Dept., 1978

Wise, George, Picturesque Janesville, Illustrated, Janesville, 1888,
Janesville, Wisconain, Illustrated, Milwaukee: Art Gravure, 1892,
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